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1 of terrorist inmates that are in our custody,

2 the real truth is we couldn't possibly manage

3 and monitor all of the inmates.

4      Q.   Is it fair to say there are quite a

5 few inmates with terrorism convictions in your

6 prisons?

7      A.   There is a significant number.

8      Q.   Do you have an estimate as to how

9 many?

10      A.   Currently, there are more than 400

11 individuals in custody with a nexus to

12 terrorism.

13      Q.   And that's either international or

14 domestic or both?

15      A.   Correct.

16      Q.   Is there a process for deciding which

17 prisoners shall be monitored by the CTU?

18      A.   Well, I said it's a judgement.  I said

19 it's an assessment based on available

20 information.

21      Q.   And who makes that decision?
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1      Q.   I'm going to refer to that as -- well,

2 is there a phrase that you use to refer to that

3 initial designation?

4      A.   No.

5      Q.   So we'll call it the initial

6 designation.

7      A.   Right.

8      Q.   So during the initial designation

9 period did you rely on any written criteria or

10 written instructions?

11      A.   Written instructions, no.  This was

12 being formulated as a response to the OIG report

13 so we looked at the criteria outlined in the OIG

14 report it was recommended for the Bureau of

15 prisons to do in order to meet the

16 recommendations in the report.

17           And the discussion was to provide an

18 environment where we could manage and monitor

19 inmates and monitor their communications.

20 Though it wasn't in writing, the five criteria

21 they use now is basically what we were looking
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1 at, at the time.

2      Q.   Well, the five criteria, if I

3 understand them, include individuals who don't

4 have any nexus to terrorism, correct?

5      A.   Right.

6      Q.   So were you still considering

7 individuals in those categories for the initial

8 designation?

9      A.   No, not initially.  Because, I mean,

10 we had to start somewhere and we had to

11 prioritize the time and the effort.  The first

12 goal was determined to be the terrorists because

13 they were the highest priority.  They were the

14 individuals identified in the OIG reports.

15           So we started with the terrorist

16 inmates, and then we worked into other groups

17 after we had reviewed all of the terrorist

18 inmates.

19      Q.   What process did you use to designate

20 those initial individuals?  You said that you

21 discussed it as a group.  Was there any formal
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1 process related to their designation?

2      A.   No.  The first group of inmates

3 were -- it was an executive level decision and

4 we were informed which inmates were selected

5 from the list to be moved and when they were

6 going to be moved.

7      Q.   And who made that selection?

8      A.   It was my understanding it was our

9 assistant director.

10      Q.   Who was that?

11      A.   At the time it was John Vanyur.

12      Q.   So he looked at the chart you had

13 created and determined from that chart who he

14 was going to designate?

15      A.   I don't know exactly what or how they

16 compile the first group of inmates from the

17 whole list.  But they chose a group of inmates

18 from the list of inmates which was more than the

19 original inmates that went into the unit and

20 they moved those in to open the unit.

21      Q.   About how many people had you
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1 procedures in writing.

2      Q.   Prior to documenting the procedures in

3 writing, is it fair to say that the procedures

4 for redesignating prisoners out of the CMU were

5 not yet in place?

6      A.   No.  Because there were designation

7 procedures available in national policy so...

8      Q.   So is it accurate to say that prior to

9 2009 there were not CMU specific re-designation

10 procedures in place?

11      A.   The CMU was expected to follow the

12 national designation policies.

13      Q.   Did there come a time when you became

14 aware of any expectation as to how long a

15 prisoner would stay in the CMU?

16           You said that initially there really

17 wasn't one.  And I'm wondering if one developed

18 over time.

19      A.   No.  There's no expectation because

20 it's based on each individual inmate and their

21 conduct, and a review to determine if they need
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1 that level of monitoring.

2      Q.   So it's possible that CMU designation

3 could be permanent for an inmate?

4      A.   I wouldn't describe it as permanent

5 because it's a continuous review.  So it's a

6 determination ongoing as to whether the inmate

7 needs that.  We wouldn't look at an inmate and

8 say, This is going to be permanent, because we

9 wouldn't look at any designation as being

10 permanent.

11           An inmate's conduct and behavior

12 changes over time.

13      Q.   But it's possible that an inmate's

14 conduct could continue to necessitate CMU

15 placement through the entirety of his sentence?

16      A.   I guess anything is possible.  But, I

17 mean, we don't look at it in that manner.  We

18 designate as an agency inmates appropriately

19 based on their individual specific needs.

20           (Discussion off the record.)

21 BY MS. MEEROPOL:
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1      Q.   Is there any difference in your mind

2 between the CMU at Terre Haute and the CMU at

3 Marion?

4      A.   Well, the difference is the physical

5 structure and layout of the units.  Otherwise

6 operationally for the most part they function

7 the same or similarly.  The differences are

8 going to be based on the physical structure of

9 the institution.

10      Q.   Does that physical structure have any

11 relevance in terms of designating inmates to one

12 or the other unit?

13      A.   No.

14      Q.   After the initial designation did

15 there come a time that a designation process was

16 developed for CMU designations?

17      A.   Yes.  A formal -- well, more or less a

18 formal process of doing the designations was

19 established.

20      Q.   And when was that process established?

21      A.   It was after that first group went
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1 into the unit after December 2006.

2      Q.   So was it sometime in 2007, sometime

3 in 2008?

4      A.   No.  It was -- it would have been --

5 the inmates arrived in Terre Haute mid December

6 2006, so it would have been the end of December

7 or January 2007.

8      Q.   And how was that process developed?

9      A.   Well, it was a discussion between the

10 counter-terrorism unit, correctional programs

11 division, and the Central Office, the Office of

12 General Counsel.

13      Q.   What was your goal with respect to the

14 process?

15      A.   What was our goal?

16      Q.   Yes.  So when you're coming up with a

17 process, what did you want that process to

18 accomplish?  What were the goals of the process?

19      A.   Well, the goal was to come up with a

20 process to meet our already-in-place designation

21 requirements, the national policy on
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1 designations, but also to allow for adequate

2 review of the inmates for placement in the unit

3 to insure we were complying with policies for

4 monitoring and managing their communications at

5 the level we intended in the unit.

6      Q.   When developing the process, was there

7 any attention paid to insuring that individuals

8 were not sent to the CMU based on faulty

9 information or without need?

10      A.   Well, it's part of the process.

11 That's why there's different review steps, and

12 there's different individuals involved to review

13 the information.  And just like we did initially

14 with the first list, get different insights and

15 input into that information.

16      Q.   Can you describe the process for me

17 that was put into place in 2007?

18      A.   The process was developed where the

19 counter-terrorism unit would be the -- I

20 shouldn't say the initiator of the referrals.

21 The reviews -- the reviews -- the referrals from
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1 other institutions, other agencies are

2 designations that would come to the CTU.  We

3 would coordinate the information, collect and

4 write the original recommendation.

5           The recommendation, along with the

6 supporting material, would be sent to the Office

7 of General Counsel.  The Office of General

8 Counsel would review the information.  And then

9 it would go to the regional director from the

10 North Central Region for a final decision.

11      Q.   I believe you said that the CTU would

12 initiate referrals, but also that referrals

13 would come from other institutions; is that

14 correct?

15      A.   Referrals can come from just about any

16 -- any source, institutions included.

17      Q.   Was there a time in the beginning of

18 the CTU that referrals were only generated --

19 I'm sorry.  Let me try that again.

20           Was there a time in the beginning of

21 the CMU that referrals were only generated at
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1 the CTU, rather than also from institutions?

2      A.   Well, initially the unit was open

3 based on direction of the Central Office and

4 review of specific inmates in response to the

5 OIG report.  So the initial group of inmates

6 were reviewed at the Central Office level in

7 response to that report.

8           Once the unit was open and established

9 and we had coordinated the movement of the

10 initial inmates identified who required that

11 placement, then we were at liberty to accept

12 referrals from any source.

13      Q.   At that point did you request

14 referrals from other sources?

15      A.   There was a point in time when the

16 assistant director made the wardens and the

17 regions aware of the unit and that the unit was

18 available for referrals.

19      Q.   The first group of 16 or 17 inmates

20 that were sent to the CMU, were they all Muslim?

21      A.   No.
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1           Normally the terrorist inmates are

2 identified for referral to us.

3      Q.   Did there come a time when your office

4 put into writing the criteria for a CMU

5 designation?

6           MR. CARTIER:  Object as vague as to

7 what --

8           Are you speaking of the CTU?

9 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

10      Q.   I'm sorry.  Did there come a time when

11 your office put into writing designation for

12 criteria for CMU designation?

13      A.   No.  The only memo that has been

14 issued right now is the re-designation memo

15 other than the one you showed me before.  But

16 the criteria is outlined in the re-designation

17 memo from October 2009.

18      Q.   Could I ask you to flip in your -- in

19 the binder of previously marked exhibits to

20 Exhibit 36?  It's the very last one.

21           (Discussion off the record.)
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1 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

2      Q.   Looking again at Exhibit 36, the

3 fourth bullet point, what does "extensive

4 disciplinary history" mean to you?

5      A.   I didn't write this and I don't -- I

6 don't know what the person who wrote it meant.

7 It's kind of vague, honestly, which is

8 problematic for this bullet because it needs to

9 describe more like these bullets do which say

10 that offense conduct has to be communication

11 related which provide a security concern, a

12 safety concern.

13           "Extensive" is too -- too vague, too

14 general.

15      Q.   It's too vague to be useful in

16 determining who should be sent to the CMU?

17           MR. CARTIER:  Objection.

18           THE WITNESS:  Well, these aren't the

19 bullets that we use.  These are, so...

20 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

21      Q.   Okay.  I'm asking, if you were relying
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1           THE WITNESS:  I'm not going to

2 speculate on that because we don't use these

3 bullets.  I don't know that anybody has ever

4 used these bullets to nominate or designate an

5 inmate to the CMU.

6 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

7      Q.   If you did learn that individuals had

8 used these bullets to nominate or designate

9 inmates to the CMU, would that seem problematic

10 to you in any way?

11           MR. CARTIER:  Same objection.

12           THE WITNESS:  Well, I would have a

13 concern because I know that we use these

14 bullets.

15 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

16      Q.   And when you say "these" you're

17 referring to Exhibit 40?

18      A.   Exhibit 40, yeah.  Sorry.

19      Q.   And it would be problematic to have

20 the Bureau of Prisons using two different sets

21 of criteria to send individuals to the CMU; is
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1 that accurate?

2           MR. CARTIER:  Objection;

3 argumentative.  You can answer.

4           THE WITNESS:  I believe it would be.

5 I mean you want to have one criteria.  Having

6 separate sets is confusing to everybody.

7 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

8      Q.   Are you aware of any weight to the

9 different criteria?  So, turning to the notice

10 to inmates rather than to Exhibit 36.  Is CMU

11 placement more important, for example, for

12 prisoners with terrorist convictions than it is

13 for prisoners who violate communications rules?

14      A.   No.  There's no weight given to any of

15 the different criteria over any of the others.

16      Q.   You talked about the initial

17 designation process.  And I had a sense that

18 your group was looking at all of the prisoners

19 with a terrorist related conviction, and

20 determining from that group who needed to go to

21 the CMU; is that correct?

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-14   Filed 04/23/14   Page 31 of 86



212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 77

1 sure.

2      Q.   Is there any other phrase that would

3 be more correct that I could use?

4      A.   No, no.  The designation packet is

5 what we generally refer to.

6      Q.   And what is included in that

7 designation packet?

8      A.   From which source to -- are you

9 talking about the CMU referrals that the CTU

10 generates?

11      Q.   Yes.

12      A.   Ordinarily the packet's going to

13 include at least a cover memo from Les Smith our

14 chief; PSR; and if available we generally

15 include the judgment, the JNC we call it, the

16 statement of reasons.  And we'll include any

17 other relevant information regarding the

18 inmate's communications such as intelligence

19 reports, institution investigations, discipline

20 reports.

21           Anything which relates to the inmate's
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1 history, conduct, incarceration behavior which

2 would be relevant to the CMU referral.

3      Q.   So is it the goal of the CTU to

4 include all relevant information in the

5 designation packet?

6           MR. CARTIER:  Objection; vague.

7           You can answer.

8           THE WITNESS:  Well, there's no way to

9 ever include all of the information.  An

10 inmate's history is vast and very detailed.  We

11 include the most relevant information we believe

12 will support the designation.

13 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

14      Q.   Do you include relevant information

15 that might argue against designation?

16      A.   Sure.  If it's available and it's

17 pertinent to the case, sure.

18      Q.   You mentioned the statement of

19 reasons.  Can you tell me what that is?

20      A.   A statement of reasons is a document

21 the court uses to identify specific reasons that
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1 the court used in the sentencing of an inmate.

2      Q.   The first document that you included

3 that you described was the cover memo from Les

4 Smith.  Can you describe that memo?  What is its

5 purpose?

6      A.   Well, the designation memo is actually

7 based on a standard memo the bureau has used for

8 different designations, and we've just

9 incorporated it for the CMU.  It includes a

10 summary of the inmate's offense conduct,

11 institution conduct, his behavior, relevant

12 information which summarizes the need to monitor

13 the inmate's communication.  Will also include

14 other relevant background information which is

15 assessed during any designation process.

16      Q.   What role do you generally play in

17 creating this memo, if any?

18      A.   Ordinarily I'm the point of contact in

19 the office so I generally am tasked with

20 collecting the information, and I draft the

21 memos for the chief.
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1      Q.   And then does he review and sign off

2 on those memos?

3      A.   Correct, yes.

4      Q.   Does he provide you with edits or

5 feedback on occasion?

6      A.   True, yes.

7      Q.   And then the memo goes out under your

8 boss's name; is that correct?

9      A.   Correct.  There's been some that I've

10 signed in his place when I've been acting, but

11 it goes out under the chief's signature block.

12      Q.   You said that you generally collect

13 all the relevant information.  Where do you

14 collect that information from?  What's the

15 source of the information?

16      A.   It depends on the inmate.  It depends

17 on the case.  If the referral comes from the

18 designation center we'll collect the referral

19 packet from the designation center.  The

20 institution could provide relevant information.

21           Sometimes referrals come from outside.
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1 They may have information which is relevant to a

2 designation.

3           So it's any information we can collect

4 from relevant sources which support the inmate's

5 placement in the CMU.

6      Q.   Do you fact check any of the

7 information that you receive?

8      A.   Fact check?

9      Q.   So if you're getting information from

10 an institution from some other office, do you

11 take any steps to corroborate the truth of that

12 information, or do you simply rely on the

13 information that you're getting from other

14 offices?

15           MR. CARTIER:  You can answer.

16           THE WITNESS:  Generally we don't --

17 there's no need to fact check.  The information

18 we get is signed by some type of authority over

19 that particular information so I don't have --

20 we don't have a need to double-check that

21 information if it has either court signature or
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1 a warden signature.  It's -- we take it the way

2 it's presented to us.

3 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

4      Q.   Prior to creating a draft of the

5 designation memo for Les Smith, do you ever

6 discuss with Mr. Smith what to include in the

7 memo?

8      A.   Certainly, yes.

9      Q.   Do you discuss what to exclude from

10 the memo?

11      A.   Well, we don't exclude anything we

12 think is relevant.  So there's no real

13 discussion about excluding anything.  We

14 certainly can't include absolutely everything on

15 an inmate's history.  But we want to make sure

16 that we put enough information in to support the

17 recommendation.

18      Q.   Have you ever had any internal

19 discussion within the CTU about whether facts

20 that you rely on need to have need to have some

21 sort of indicia reliability?
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1           Well, you indicated earlier that when

2 facts come to you under signature, you take that

3 as -- I would call it an indicia of reliability.

4 That this is reliable information because you

5 can rely on other Bureau of Prisons individuals

6 who have undertaken an investigation before they

7 signed off on these facts.

8           Is that accurate?

9      A.   That's accurate.

10      Q.   So what about if facts come from other

11 sources.  For example, you know, from other

12 prisoners, from informants of some sort, from

13 prison guards.

14           Would you consider those facts in the

15 same way, or must they have some level of

16 reliability?

17           MR. CARTIER:  Objection; hypothetical.

18 You can answer.

19           THE WITNESS:  Well, you're talking

20 about a couple different things.  A prison guard

21 or a correctional officer is a staff member.  So
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1 court's full statement and the background on the

2 case.  So while the cover memo summarizes the

3 reasons for the referral, it provides the full

4 document to the staff making further assessments

5 and decisions on the case to be able to refer

6 the entirety of the document.

7      Q.   Do you have any understanding of how

8 the North Central Regional Office review of CTU

9 referrals works?

10      A.   Only vaguely and only based on

11 discovery produced in this case.

12      Q.   Does the designation packet also

13 include a notice to inmate of transfer to the

14 CMU?

15      A.   Yes, it does.

16      Q.   What's the purpose of including that

17 document?

18      A.   As part of the CMU referral.  And it

19 provides the statement which will be provided to

20 the inmate notifying him of his placement in the

21 unit and his appeal rights.  So it gets to --
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1 at that point, and then coordinate with the

2 designation center for a typical re-designation.

3           If the case came from an outside

4 source such as an institution, we would include

5 OGC's comments with the recommendations through

6 the final process to the Regional director.

7      Q.   Okay.  Now, we were talking about

8 notice to inmates for transfer to the CMU.

9           Who drafts the inmate specific portion

10 of that document?

11      A.   Ordinarily, the CTU drafts the

12 document.

13      Q.   And who in the CTU?

14      A.   I'm the starting point.  I begin the

15 drafting process.

16      Q.   And does Les Smith sign off on the

17 final version?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   What's the purpose of the inmate

20 specific portion of the notice to inmate of

21 transfer?
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1 legal question for the legal staff to determine

2 what kind of protections are appropriate.

3 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

4      Q.   Well, I wasn't asking what was

5 appropriate.  I was asking what was in place.

6           So was it your sense that there are

7 more procedures in place to review ADX or SMU

8 designation than there are for CMU designation,

9 if you know?

10      A.   There's different procedures.  I don't

11 know if you could say there's more or less.

12      Q.   Do you know why there are different

13 procedures?

14      A.   Specifically it was a decision by our

15 legal staff.

16      Q.   Do you think that's the right

17 decision?

18      A.   I have no reason to question the

19 judgment of our legal staff.

20      Q.   Based on your understanding of the

21 purpose of CMU designation, do you believe that
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1 following SMU style procedures for CMU

2 designation would be problematic in any way?

3      A.   Problematic how?

4      Q.   In any way.  If you were told

5 tomorrow, maybe by your legal staff or by

6 whomever, that from now on you were going to use

7 the SMU style procedures, would that strike you

8 as problematic in any way?

9      A.   Well, problematic?  I mean, there's

10 not -- it's certainly something that could be

11 done because we're doing it.  So if we did it

12 for another group of designations it's something

13 that could be done.  It would be a change and

14 would require some restructuring of the

15 procedures.

16           I would wonder if we're going to

17 eliminate the OGC, the legal office review.

18      Q.   But there's no problem you could

19 identify with making that change?

20      A.   Well, problem -- I mean, it could be

21 done.  It would take some -- some coordination
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1 to set up the procedures and the process.

2      Q.   Okay.  I understand that the Regional

3 director has final authority on CMU

4 designations.

5           Would you say that there's anybody

6 else who has a primary responsibility for

7 decisions on who gets sent to the CMU?

8      A.   I don't understand what the difference

9 is.

10      Q.   Well, the regional director has the

11 final signoff.  Is he the person who plays the

12 largest role in determining who gets sent to the

13 CMU, or does someone else play the largest role?

14      A.   I wouldn't define anybody's role any

15 larger than any other.  I mean, the process is

16 set up with the different levels of review, the

17 different steps that are involved.  It's -- the

18 purpose is to provide adequate information to

19 make an informed judgment and decision for

20 placement.

21      Q.   I'd like to mark for identification
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1           We make a recommendation whether we

2 feel the inmate's conduct and behavior still

3 warrant that level of communication monitoring.

4 And then our recommendation is referred for

5 final decision.

6      Q.   To the North Central Regional Office?

7      A.   The final decision's made by the North

8 Central Region.  I don't remember the exact

9 timeframe.  But the referrals now are going

10 through our administrator in the Central Office,

11 too.

12      Q.   Why is that?

13      A.   Just another level of oversight.

14 Another individual to review the process and the

15 procedures.

16      Q.   Is that individual's role different

17 from the NCRO role in any way?

18      A.   Well, it doesn't have decision-making

19 authority.  They make recommendations based on

20 their review of the material.

21      Q.   And for how long has that been going
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1 on?

2      A.   The last year or two at least.  I

3 don't remember exactly.

4      Q.   Do you know what prompted that change?

5      A.   Change in our exec' staff.  First the

6 Central Office was reviewing cases which the CTU

7 didn't agree with, and then the Central Office

8 was reviewing all of the cases.

9      Q.   So there was a point in time when, if

10 there was a disagreement between the CTU and,

11 who, the Regional office, then the Central

12 Office would get involved; is that what you're

13 saying?

14           Is that what you're saying?

15      A.   No.  There's no disagreement.  You've

16 seen and you've said that the CTU doesn't agree

17 with all referrals.

18      Q.   Right.

19      A.   So, the decision was made to have the

20 Central Office review the packets at another

21 level.
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1 re-designation out of the CMU?

2           MR. CARTIER:  Just object.  There's a

3 lack of foundation here.

4           But you can answer if you understand.

5           THE WITNESS:  Well, as we said before

6 no timeframe, so it doesn't matter what

7 consideration the inmate was placed in the CMU

8 under.  There's a judgment made at every review

9 if the inmate warrants that level of monitoring

10 and continued placement in the CMU.

11 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

12      Q.   Are there any criteria in place to

13 help the unit team determine whether an inmate's

14 behavior has been -- whether an inmate has

15 successfully kept from engaging in the

16 problematic behavior for long enough to warrant

17 removal from the CMU?

18      A.   There are no timeframes.  There's no

19 specifics.  It's based on judgment, observation.

20 The unit team structure is based on a -- working

21 directly with the inmate population,
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1 pointed it out.

2      Q.   Are you aware of any information that

3 Daniel McGowan was "the leader" of ALF or ELF?

4      A.   Well, that's a tricky question because

5 the groups consider themselves leaderless.  So,

6 the only type of leadership role we would try to

7 characterize anybody had would be particular

8 acts that they were involved in.

9      Q.   It would be impossible for an

10 individual to be the overall leader for ALF or

11 ELF as the groups don't operate with that kind

12 of structure?

13           MR. CARTIER:  Objection;

14 mischaracterizes the record and testimony.

15           You can answer.

16           THE WITNESS:  It would be fair to say

17 that the groups, themselves, in their own public

18 statements consider themselves leaderless.  They

19 advocate for individuals to act on behalf of

20 their name.

21           It would be realistic to assume that
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1 certain groups and certain functions have

2 leaders and leaders within their own structure.

3           So trying to overall describe a leader

4 of all of ALF and ELF, I would say no.  But

5 could you identify leaders within parts of ALF

6 and ELF?  Then I think you probably could.

7           MS. MEEROPOL:  Let's go off the record

8 for one moment.

9           (Discussion off the record.)

10 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

11      Q.   I'd like to mark for identification

12 Exhibit 45.  The first page of the document is

13 Bates stamped 60822.

14      (Schiavone Deposition Exhibit Number 45 was

15      marked for identification and attached to

16      the transcript.)

17 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

18      Q.   Now the first page that you're looking

19 at is dated July 20, 2007.  It's a CMU review

20 form for an individual whose name is redacted.

21 And it appears that this individual was approved
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1 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

2      Q.   Let's flip in Exhibit 30 to Daniel

3 McGowan's Notice of Transfer.  And let's look at

4 it side by side with the redacted inmate's

5 Notice of Transfer from Exhibit 45.

6           Would you agree that the inmate

7 specific portion of these two notices are

8 identical, with the exception that several

9 phrases are added to the redacted inmate's

10 notice that don't appear in Daniel McGowan's

11 notice?

12           And please take your time.

13      A.   (Reading.)  Yes.  The information is

14 similar and it's based on their offense conduct.

15 They were involved in the same conspiracy, and

16 much of the information is identical in their

17 court records.

18      Q.   Was the redacted inmate's notice to

19 inmate of transfer written prior to Mr.

20 McGowan's notice?

21      A.   Yes.  It would have been written at
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1 the time of the referral being made.

2      Q.   Did you use the redacted inmate's

3 Notice of Transfer as a template when you were

4 creating Mr. McGowan's notice?

5      A.   I believe I did, yes.

6      Q.   And you took out information from the

7 redacted inmate's notice that you believe did

8 not apply to Mr. McGowan; is that accurate?

9      A.   I don't know if I removed the

10 information or if it was removed during the

11 review process or who recommended changes to the

12 actual language.

13      Q.   Would you agree that the information

14 in Mr. McGowan's Notice of Transfer indicated

15 that his offense conduct included communicating

16 in code and teaching others how to commit crimes

17 of arson would apply to the redacted inmate as

18 well?

19      A.   I'm not sure I understand.

20      Q.   Okay.  I'm asking -- I'll withdraw the

21 question.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Now, I do not have any CTU

2 memos regarding Mr. McGowan's designation

3 between this March 2008 memo and then the

4 following March 2010 memo.

5           Do you believe that that indicates the

6 CMU did not consider Mr. McGowan's potential

7 release from the CMU during that two-year

8 period?

9      A.   I believe that's correct.  We would

10 have only considered his transfer out of the CMU

11 if the institution had referred him for

12 re-designation.

13      Q.   Let's take a look at that institution

14 referral, which is a March 9, 2010 memo from

15 Unit Manager Kelly, Bates stamped 3407.

16           Are you looking at the same document?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   For the record we're still in Exhibit

19 30.

20           Did you receive this document at the

21 CTU?
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1      Q.   Now, the memo indicates that Mr.

2 Jayyousi's -- that the unit team has determined

3 that the original reason for Mr. Jayyousi's CMU

4 designation and placement still exist, correct?

5      A.   Correct.  That's what the memo says.

6      Q.   And we already discussed those

7 original reasons were offense conduct, correct?

8      A.   The recommendation from the CTU was

9 based on offense conduct.

10      Q.   Please flip forward several more pages

11 to the February 22, 2011 memo from Mr. Kelly.

12 It's Bates stamped 4610.

13           Have you seen this document before,

14 sir?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   My understanding is that Mr. Jayyousi

17 was transferred from the Terre Haute CMU to the

18 Marion CMU, and that's why we're now seeing a

19 memo from Mr. Kelly.

20           Does that sound accurate to you?

21      A.   Correct.
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1      Q.   Do you understand that that transfer

2 had any impact on Mr. Jayyousi's chance for

3 re-designation out of the CMU?

4      A.   No, it did not.  It just -- the

5 transfer's for the administrative institution

6 reasons and not based on Inmate Jayyousi's

7 conduct behavior.

8      Q.   Please turn to the next memo, which is

9 a March 22, 2011 memo, Bates stamped 4613.

10           Did you write this memo, sir?

11      A.   I drafted the memo, yes.

12      Q.   The first paragraph refers to the

13 warden's memo that we just looked at, correct?

14      A.   Correct.

15      Q.   Did you review and consider that memo             

16 when you were deciding whether to recommend Mr.

17 Jayyousi for transfer?

18      A.   Of course, yes.

19      Q.   Now, if I can direct your attention to

20 the bottom of the second page, it indicates, "At

21 the time of this recommendation from the warden
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1      Q.   Let's look back at Exhibit 31 at the

2 March 22, 2011 Les Smith memo.  It's at Bates

3 stamp 4613.  I think it's directly before the

4 document you're looking at.

5      A.   4613?

6      Q.   Yes.

7      A.   Okay.

8      Q.   I believe you testified earlier that

9 you drafted this document; is that correct?

10      A.   Correct.

11      Q.   Is it fair to say that you relied on

12 the sermon in recommending that Mr. Jayyousi not

13 be recommended for release out of the CMU?

14      A.   The sermon was one of the pieces of

15 information used, yes.

16      Q.   Now, at Page 2, looking four

17 paragraphs down at the paragraph that states,

18 "Inmate Jayyousi's comments encouraged

19 activities which would lead to a group

20 demonstration."

21           Do you see that?
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1      A.   Yes, that's correct.

2      Q.   Are you aware that Mr. Aref's

3 conviction resulted from a sting operation?  In

4 other words, that he never had any actual

5 contact with JEM, but rather with an undercover

6 informant who is referred to in the PSR as a

7 cooperating individual who was posing as someone

8 connected to JEM?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   So in other words, Mr. Aref never had

11 any direct or indirect contact with JEM,

12 correct?

13      A.   He believed he had communication with

14 a terrorist group, which is the significant

15 fact.

16      Q.   But he didn't actually, correct?

17      A.   In substance, he didn't have direct

18 contact, but he thought he did.

19      Q.   He didn't have any direct contact

20 either, correct?

21      A.   He believed that he was communicating
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1 with a terrorist organization and terrorist

2 individuals.

3      Q.   Yes.  But my question was, did he

4 actually have any indirect contact with a

5 terrorism organization?

6      A.   No.  He was dealing with the

7 confidential informant.

8      Q.   So is the statement in the first

9 paragraph of your memo that Mr. Aref's "offense

10 conduct included significant communication,

11 association, and assistance to JEM," accurate?

12      A.   We believe it is.  The inmate had a

13 significant belief that he was communicating

14 with a terrorist organization, that he was

15 supporting that terrorist organization, and he

16 was willing to engage in a terrorist act.

17      Q.   Would it maybe be more accurate to say

18 Mr. Aref believe that he had significant

19 communication and association and assistance to

20 JEM?

21      A.   We can argue about words and
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1 outside of the documents?

2 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3      Q.   Yes.  Any discussion.

4      A.   The only discussion I had was

5 notifying them the day after we had new

6 information, and we would be resubmitting our

7 original recommendation.

8      Q.   So is it fair to say -- and I don't

9 think it violates any privilege to say -- that

10 you learned something from the JTTF that led you

11 to change your mind about Mr. Aref's

12 re-designation out of the CMU?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   Are you aware of whether Mr. Aref was

15 provided any information as to why his transfer

16 was denied?

17      A.   I'm not aware.

18      Q.   Do you believe that he was provide any

19 information about why his transfer was denied?

20      A.   I believe he was.  It's a requirement

21 for the inmate to be notified of the denial so
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1 they can appeal it through the administrative

2 remedy process.

3      Q.   Is it your understanding that policy

4 requires inmates to be notified of why they were

5 denied or just of the fact that they were

6 denied?

7      A.   The requirement is to notify them in

8 summary the reasons for the denial.

9      Q.   Do you know whether or not CMU staff

10 were provided with this JTTF information?

11           MR. CARTIER:  Are you talking about

12 institutional staff?

13           MS. MEEROPOL:  Yes.

14           MR. CARTIER:  Do we need to talk about

15 it?  You can answer.

16           THE WITNESS:  No.  Yes, the

17 institution was provided relevant information.

18 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

19      Q.   So they were provided the JTTF

20 information?

21      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Is it fair to say that Mr. Aref did

2 everything that he was supposed to do for over

3 three years in the CMU, but was denied transfer

4 anyway because of undisclosed information from a

5 Federal law enforcement agency?

6      A.   I'm not going to answer that

7 specifically because it could relate to the

8 actual information.  But the information related

9 to his continued placement in the unit, which is

10 the monitoring of his communications, which we

11 believe was relevant to our recommendation.

12      Q.   Is it fair to say that Mr. Aref had no

13 ability to access that JTTF information or to

14 shape his behavior according to that

15 information?

16      A.   It's two different questions.

17      Q.   Okay.  I'll ask the first one --

18      A.   No, no.  He wouldn't have had access

19 to the information.  The information is based on

20 his conduct and his behavior, so obviously, he

21 would have an ability to change that.
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1      Q.   But he wouldn't know that he needed to

2 change it because he didn't have access to the

3 information itself, right?

4      A.   I don't know what he knows or how he

5 interpreted anything.

6      Q.   The October 25th and 26th, 2010 CTU

7 memos are the earliest memos we have regarding

8 the possibility of transferring Mr. Aref out of

9 the CMU.

10           Does that indicate to you that your

11 office did not consider Mr. Aref's eligibility

12 for re-designation from the CMU until October of

13 2010?

14      A.   That seems accurate.  We wouldn't have

15 considered the inmate unless the institution had

16 submitted him for consideration.

17      Q.   Okay.  Please flip in Exhibit 32 to

18 the November 3, 2010 CMU referral form.  The

19 correctional --

20      A.   Is this Document 3296?

21      Q.   Yes, sir.  Thank you.
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1 do you continue to believe that Mr. Aref's

2 placement in the CMU was a good use of CMU

3 space?

4      A.   That's a subjective question.  We

5 recommended the inmate based on the information

6 that was available at the time, and we stood by

7 our recommendation.

8      Q.   And you stand by it today?

9      A.   We can't go back and undo what we've

10 done in the past.  There was reason to support

11 what we did.  We summarized it, and there's no

12 reason to question it.

13      Q.   I'd like to turn in the previously

14 marked exhibits to Exhibit 34.

15           Did you write this memo, sir?

16      A.   Yes, I believe I did.

17      Q.   Okay.  Take a moment to review the

18 document.  I want to know if it's accurate to

19 say that this prisoner was sent to the CMU for

20 using a cell phone.

21      A.   No, that's not accurate.  That's part
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1 of the information was used, but it wasn't the

2 only part of the information used.

3      Q.   Now, there's information that's been

4 redacted from this document.  Without referring

5 to any information that's been redacted, is

6 there anything else in this memo that indicates

7 why the inmate was sent to the CMU besides the

8 use of a cell phone?

9           MR. CARTIER:  You're talking about the

10 recommendation, right?

11           MS. MEEROPOL:  Yes.

12           THE WITNESS:  No.  It appears the

13 other supporting information has been redacted.

14 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

15      Q.   Let's look at the next memo dated

16 March 12, 2007.  Did you draft this memo as

17 well, sir?

18      A.   Are we talking about 6734?

19      Q.   Yes.

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Point 1 in the memo states, "Reliable
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1      A.   Correct.

2      Q.   And you indicated that the difference

3 between those individuals and individuals who

4 are placed in the CMU is that you've made a

5 determination that the individuals who are

6 placed in the CMU require a greater

7 communications monitoring; is that accurate?

8      A.   Well, the CMU provides a means to

9 control and monitor all of the inmates'

10 communications.  And it provides a basis for us

11 to try to preclude inmates from circumventing

12 monitoring.  The Bureau of Prisons can monitor

13 any inmate in our custody.

14      Q.   How does the CMU make it easier to

15 monitor --

16           In what way does the CMU make it

17 easier to monitor communications more fully?

18      A.   Well, there's a number of different

19 reasons.  We have the dedicated staff at the

20 counter-terrorism unit who are trained with a

21 specialized training in order to monitor the
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1 inmates and understand different dynamics of

2 terrorism-related issues, sovereign citizens,

3 other things which we are tasked with

4 monitoring.  The unit itself is smaller, it's

5 more controlled, so that it's less likely for

6 inmates to use other inmates or third parties to

7 circumvent communication monitoring.  The

8 limitations on the phone calls allow us to

9 monitor them live and directly.

10           The same with the visits.  It just

11 provides more control of the communications to

12 engage staff more directly in the monitoring.

13      Q.   In terms of monitoring the CMU

14 prisoners' mail, my understanding is that

15 incoming and outgoing mail goes to your office

16 before it goes to its final destination; is that

17 correct?

18      A.   Correct.

19      Q.   What do you do with that mail when it

20 comes into your office?

21      A.   We review it for any security concerns

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-14   Filed 04/23/14   Page 64 of 86



EXHIBIT 37 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-14   Filed 04/23/14   Page 65 of 86



CONFIDENTIAL PURSUANT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 1

              UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

              FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

--------------------------------------------------- -----

Yassin Muhiddin Aref,

    and

Daniel McGowan,

    and

Royal Jones,

    and

Kifah Jayyousi,

             Plaintiffs,

      vs.              Civil Action No. 1:10-cv-005 3-BJR

Eric Holder, Attorney

General of the United States,

    and

Charles E. Samuels, Director
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1 that correct?

2     A.  When I was there, that is correct.

3     Q.  And which position did you hold?

4     A.  I was the warden at the Federal Correction al

5 Institution was where my office was based.

6     Q.  And how did you divide your responsibiliti es

7 with the complex warden?

8     A.  Generally speaking, I was in charge of the

9 Federal Correctional Institution and the Federal P rison

10 Camp.

11     Q.  And my understanding is that that include s the

12 communications management unit, correct?

13     A.  Correct.

14     Q.  For how long did you hold the position of  warden

15 at Terre Haute?

16     A.  Approximately 34 months.

17     Q.  Can you recall the dates of your time as warden

18 at Terre Haute?

19     A.  I arrived approximately August of 2006 an d I

20 left June of 2009.

21     Q.  And am I correct in understanding that th e

22 communications management unit did not exist at T erre

23 Haute when you first arrived but opened shortly i nto

24 your time there?

25     A.  Yes.
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1 issues?

2     A.  At times.

3     Q.  To the extent that you did not play a role  in

4 resolving the issues, did you play a supervisory r ole in

5 ensuring that the issues were resolved?

6     A.  Yes.

7     Q.  Did there come a time when you learned tha t a

8 communication management unit would open at Terre Haute?

9     A.  Yes.

10     Q.  And when was that?

11     A.  I would say definitively it was most like ly in

12 October of 2006.

13     Q.  From whom did you learn this information?

14     A.  From the regional director.

15     Q.  Is that Mr. Nalley?

16     A.  Yes.

17     Q.  One moment, please.  I've just been joine d by my

18 colleague as I mentioned to you would happen.  I' m sorry

19 for interrupting you, sir.  What did Mr. Nalley t ell you

20 about the communication management unit?

21     A.  That it would be opened.

22     Q.  Anything else?

23     A.  No.  Are we done?

24     Q.  If only it were that easy.  Did you recei ve any

25 written material about the communication manageme nt unit
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1 at that time in October of 2006?

2     A.  I don't understand your question, what mat erial?

3     Q.  Any, did you receive any written policy

4 statements or written procedures regarding the

5 communication management unit in October of 2006?

6     A.  No.

7     Q.  Did you receive any material of that natur e at

8 any time prior to the opening of the communication

9 management unit?

10     A.  Not that I recall.

11     Q.  What's your understanding of the purpose of the

12 CMU?

13     A.  The purpose of the communication manageme nt unit

14 at the time I was there was designed to monitor

15 communication.

16     Q.  Has that purpose changed over time as far  as you

17 are aware?

18     A.  No.

19     Q.  What's your understanding of who is eligi ble to

20 be designated to a CMU?

21     A.  My understanding is any inmate in the Fed eral

22 Bureau of Prisons would be eligible.

23     Q.  Are you aware of whether or not there are

24 criteria to determine which inmates should be sen t to

25 the CMU?
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1 CMU?

2     A.  No, I did not.

3     Q.  Did you expect that it might be a permanen t

4 designation for some prisoners?

5     A.  No.

6     Q.  Does that mean that at the time it opened you

7 assumed that it would not be a permanent designati on for

8 any prisoners?

9     A.  I didn't assume anything when it opened.

10     Q.  So you didn't have any idea at the time i t

11 opened whether or not it would be permanent?

12     A.  That is correct.

13     Q.  Or what length of stay the prisoners ther e could

14 expect?

15     A.  As stated.

16     Q.  By the time you left the communication

17 management unit did you then have, at that point did you

18 have a sense of how long a prisoner's stay was li kely to

19 be in that unit?

20     A.  No, I didn't.

21     Q.  Did you receive any training specific to the

22 CMU?

23     A.  No.

24     Q.  Did you receive any written policies spec ific to

25 the CMU?
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1     A.  That was asked once, the answer is still n o.

2     Q.  Well, actually, sir, my initial question w as

3 about what you received in October of 2006 and the n

4 prior to the CMU opening.  And I'm now asking you over

5 the entire period of time that you were the warden  at

6 Terre Haute in charge of the CMU did you receive a ny

7 written material or written policies about that un it?

8     A.  Received, no.

9     Q.  What was your role with respect to the CMU ?

10     A.  It was one unit inside the institution th at I

11 had supervisory oversight.

12     Q.  Was your role with respect to the CMU any

13 different than your role with respect to the othe r units

14 over which you had supervision?

15     A.  No.

16     Q.  So let's talk generally about your role a s

17 warden at Terre Haute with respect to housing uni ts.

18 What are the various, the various duties that you

19 undertook with respect to those units?  You've al ready

20 listed that you made rounds as one, and I'm wonde ring

21 what the other duties were?

22     A.  Well, as I said, as a warden my role is t o

23 implement policy and to ensure the safe and secur e

24 running of an institution.

25     Q.  And how did you do that, for example, how  did
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1 it if you --

2     A.  I only recall Jayyousi, et cetera, from

3 documentation that I reviewed a couple days ago th at you

4 have.

5     Q.  Okay.  I understand.

6     A.  Up until then I would have answered no.

7     Q.  Okay.  Just so that you understand going

8 forward, the documents that your counsel showed yo u

9 before the deposition, you know, that's not a priv ileged

10 matter, so you should feel free to answer questio ns, you

11 know, by indicating that you looked at a document  and

12 that refreshed your recollection without worrying  that

13 you're divulging privileged information.  What is

14 privileged is any conversations you had with your

15 attorney about those documents, and I won't be as king

16 you questions that should elicit that response.  And of

17 course if you're worried that you're going to say

18 something that discloses that information, you sh ould

19 feel free to talk to your attorney about it befor e you

20 answer the question, okay?

21     A.  Yes.

22     Q.  Are you familiar with the process for

23 designation of an inmate to the CMU?

24     A.  Say that another way.

25     Q.  Are you familiar with the way in which an  inmate

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-14   Filed 04/23/14   Page 73 of 86



CONFIDENTIAL PURSUANT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 29

1 gets designated to go to the CMU?

2     A.  No.

3     Q.  Do you have any idea how that works?

4     A.  No.

5     Q.  Did you play any role in considering wheth er

6 inmates were eligible for CMU placement?

7     A.  No.

8     Q.  And I believe you've already testified tha t you

9 were not aware of whether or not there was any cri teria

10 to guide who should be placed in the CMU, correct ?

11     A.  Yes.

12     Q.  Do you have any understanding as to how a n

13 inmate may be nominated for CMU placement?

14     A.  No.

15     Q.  Did you ever nominate a prisoner for plac ement

16 in the CMU?

17     A.  I don't like the word nominate, I'm not q uite

18 sure what that means.  I think towards the end of  my

19 tenure there if an inmate throughout the Bureau o f

20 Prisons had communication issues, that name most likely

21 would be submitted to a regional director and fro m there

22 I don't know what the criteria or anything would take

23 place.

24     Q.  So if I understand you correctly, you're saying

25 that at some point later in the time that you wer e
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1     A.  Well, you should have asked me that.  Yes,  I

2 read PSI's.

3     Q.  Thank you, sir.  The last sentence of that

4 paragraph states that, "Sensitive reporting from o ther

5 law enforcement agencies was used to determine you r

6 placement in the CMU."  Do you have any idea what that

7 refers to?

8     A.  No.

9     Q.  Do you see anything in this response that

10 responds to Kifah Jayyousi's contention that his PSI did

11 not indicate that he ever recruited anyone?  And if you

12 don't know what I'm talking about, you can look b ack at

13 the BP-9 form.

14     A.  Okay.  Now ask me the question again, ple ase.

15              MS. MEEROPOL:  Would you mind readin g the

16 question back, please.

17              (Requested material read back.)

18     A.  I don't, no.

19     Q.  I'm sorry, were you saying I don't know o r --

20     A.  No, I was going to say --

21     Q.  Or you said I don't and then no?

22     A.  Well, let me put it another way.  The res ponse

23 clearly indicates that the PSI reveals his associ ation

24 with terrorism.  As far as recruiting individuals  and

25 who those individuals are, this response does not  say,
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1 the PSI does not say who they were nor does it say  that

2 he did not do it.  In other words, it's not addres sed.

3     Q.  Do you see anything in this BP-9 response that

4 responds to Kifah Jayyousi's contention that his P SI did

5 not indicate that he had any ties to al-Qaeda?

6     A.  Not al-Qaeda directly, just terrorism.

7     Q.  Given the fact that the response does not

8 address those two points, do you believe that the

9 response is adequate?

10     A.  Yes.

11     Q.  Okay.

12              MS. MEEROPOL:  I think now is a good  time

13 to take a break.  Do you want to do another five

14 minutes, is that fine?

15              MR. JOHNSON:  Sure.  Unless anyone w ants

16 longer.  Five good for everyone?

17              THE WITNESS:  Five is fine.

18              MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Five minutes or  so.

19              MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  Great.

20              (Short break taken at 10:11 a.m.)

21 BY MS. MEEROPOL:

22     Q.  Sir, have you ever heard the CMU describe d as a

23 self-contained general population unit?

24     A.  Yes.

25     Q.  What does that mean?
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1 medical, so I don't know off the top of my head al l the

2 steps that the review team takes to comply with po licy.

3     Q.  Well, you were warden at the CMU for three

4 years, correct?

5     A.  Correct.

6     Q.  Or close to three years?

7     A.  Correct.

8     Q.  During that time did the CMU unit team eve r

9 recommend to you that a CMU inmate should be trans ferred

10 out of the CMU?

11     A.  I don't recall.

12     Q.  As warden did you ever provide the unit t eam at

13 the CMU with any guidance as to how they should d ecide

14 whether a CMU inmate needed to stay in the CMU?

15     A.  No.

16     Q.  Do you remember knowing during the time y ou were

17 warden any criteria you should consider to determ ine

18 whether or not a CMU inmate needed to stay in the  CMU?

19     A.  No.

20     Q.  Okay.  I'd like to mark for identificatio n

21 Exhibit 142, Exhibit 142 which you'll find in fol der 11.

22 The first page is Bates stamped P1097.

23              (Deposition Exhibit Number 142

24              marked for identification.)

25     Q.  Sir, please take a moment to review the
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1 document.

2     A.  Okay.  Go ahead.

3     Q.  Okay.  I'd like to direct your attention t o the

4 third paragraph on the BP-9 response, which is on page

5 P1098.  I'm sorry, I mean the fourth paragraph whe re it

6 states, "Due to this evidence you will remain in t he CMU

7 for a minimum of 18 months."  Where did you get th at

8 time period from?

9     A.  I don't remember.

10     Q.  During your time as warden at Terre Haute  was

11 there a requirement in place that inmates stay in  the

12 CMU for at least 18 months?

13     A.  I don't recall that being a requirement, no.

14     Q.  I'd like to mark for identification Exhib it 143,

15 you'll find it in folder 12, and it's the FCC Ter re

16 Haute communication management handbook.

17              (Deposition Exhibit Number 143

18              marked for identification.)

19     Q.  Now I note that this document is dated af ter the

20 time that you left the Terre Haute CMU.  Did you,  was

21 there a document similar to this, a CMU handbook in

22 place during the time that you were warden at the  CMU?

23     A.  As stated prior in my testimony, I said t here

24 was.  This is the A&O handbook.

25     Q.  Well, let me, let me ask for a little
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1 review, would you expect the report to indicate th at?

2     A.  I don't know.

3     Q.  You talked about the fact that as warden w hen

4 you consider nearer release transfers you document

5 whether or not the transfer is granted and the rea sons

6 why the transfer is granted or rejected.  And we'v e also

7 talked about the fact that you believe that transf er out

8 of the CMU may have, that consideration of transfe r out

9 of the CMU may have occurred at program reviews, b ut you

10 don't recall specifically.  What I'm trying to

11 understand is if indeed transfer out of the CMU w as

12 considered at program reviews whether the program  review

13 report would reflect that consideration?

14              MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, argumentati ve,

15 asked and answered.  You can answer.

16     A.  I don't know.

17     Q.  Okay.  Let's look at the next program rev iew in

18 Exhibit 145, it's dated 10/24/07.  And you can ta ke a

19 moment to review it, as much time as you need.  I 'm

20 going to ask whether this program review report

21 indicates any problems with Mr. Aref's behavior?

22     A.  Okay.

23     Q.  Does it indicate any problems with Mr. Ar ef's

24 behavior?

25     A.  No.
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1     Q.  Does the report indicate that Mr. Aref has  clear

2 conduct, is meeting his program goals and was

3 programming appropriately?

4     A.  Yes.

5     Q.  Does this document indicate whether or not  Mr.

6 Aref was considered for transfer out of the CMU at  his

7 10/24/07 program review?

8     A.  Yes.

9     Q.  And where are you seeing that, sir?

10     A.  The CCC recommendation.

11     Q.  Could you tell me what that is?

12     A.  CCC recommendation is a community correct ion

13 center and it's something that they would review prior

14 to his release.  But where I see this is where it  says

15 it's not applicable because he has a detainer, IC E put a

16 possible deportation on that detainer.  And if me mory

17 serves me correctly, if you have a detainer, espe cially

18 from ICE which means that detainer is outside thi s

19 country, you are ineligible for a transfer at tha t

20 point.

21     Q.  Can you tell from this document whether o r not

22 Mr. Aref was considered for transfer out of the C MU to a

23 regular general population unit at this program r eview?

24     A.  Well, I think I just answered that very

25 concisely.
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1 Counselor.

2     Q.  Okay.  Maybe looking further in this docum ent

3 will actually help with this line of questioning.

4 Please turn to the next program review in Exhibit 145,

5 it's dated 4/29/08.  Please take a look at, at tho se

6 three pages.

7     A.  Okay.

8     Q.  Does this program review indicate any prob lems

9 with Mr. Aref's conduct?

10     A.  No.

11     Q.  Does it indicate that Mr. Aref has clear

12 conduct, satisfactory work performance, is meetin g goals

13 and is programming appropriately?

14     A.  That's what it states.

15     Q.  Now do you agree that the last page indic ates

16 that Mr. Aref has requested transfer to a nearer release

17 residence?

18     A.  Yes.

19     Q.  And I'm referring to Page 1147.  What is this

20 line, "Unit team will make recommendation" indica te to

21 you?

22     A.  It means the unit team will review his re quest

23 for nearer transfer and make a recommendation.

24     Q.  To you or to someone else?

25     A.  It doesn't state.
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1     Q.  Do you recall whether policy called for th em to

2 make a recommendation to you?

3     A.  I don't recall.

4     Q.  Did you receive a recommendation from Mr. Aref's

5 unit team regarding his nearer release request in April

6 of 2008?

7     A.  I don't recall.

8     Q.  Would that recommendation have generated a ny

9 paperwork?

10     A.  If there was a recommendation I would pre sume

11 that paperwork would be generated.

12     Q.  Okay.  Let's turn to the last program rev iew

13 report in this packet, it's dated October 15, 200 8.

14 Would you agree, well, let me give you a moment t o

15 review the document first.

16     A.  Okay.

17     Q.  Does this document indicate that Mr. Aref  has

18 now had 18 months of clear conduct in the CMU?

19     A.  Let's see.  Close to it, you're a month s hort.

20     Q.  Does this report indicate any problems wi th Mr.

21 Aref's conduct?

22     A.  Conduct, no.

23     Q.  Does it indicate that he's meeting goals and

24 programming appropriately?

25     A.  Yes.
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